#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SARASOTA CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT, INC., and CITIZENS FOR SUNSHINE, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1647

CITY OF SARASOTA, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA, SHANNON STAUB, NORA PATTERSON, and JOE BARBETTA,

Appellees.		
	/	'

APPELLANTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# THE LAW OFFICE OF ANDREA FLYNN MOGENSEN, P.A.

Andrea Flynn Mogensen, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0549681 200 South Washington Boulevard, Suite 7 Sarasota FL 34236 Telephone: (941) 955-1066

# THOMAS & LOCICERO, PL

### **INTRODUCTION**

Citizens brought an action against the County and City alleging violations of the Sunshine Law by a joint negotiating team to which county commissioners had delegated authority to conduct negotiations with a private organization. The result of these negotiations was an agreement with the Baltimore Orioles ("Orioles") for the renovation of a spring-training baseball stadium. The complaint also alleged that e-mails between three individual county commissioners were used to conduct electronic meetings and discussions without the required notice to the public.

The County and City subsequently filed bond validation complaints. The cases were consolidated and, after a four-day trial, the lower court issued a final judgment validating the bonds. The lower court determined the county commissioners violated the Sunshine Law by engaging in substantive discussions via e-mail, but refused to invalidate the agreement with the Orioles because the conduct was unintentional and cured by subsequent meetings. The trial court rejected the remaining Sunshine Law claims.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. Nature of the Case

This case is an appeal from a Final Judgment which validated bonds to be issued by both the County and City on July 8, 2010. (Ex. 1) The bonds

are to renovate a spring training stadium and are supported by collection of a Tourist Development Tax ("TDT") and half-cent sales tax revenue.

In July 2009, the County entered into a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with the Orioles.<sup>1</sup> (Ex. 2) The heart of the MOU is \$31.2 million of public financing and a 30-year lease, during which the Orioles would play their spring training games at the renovated stadium.

Citizens, however, contend that the agreement should be voided due to Sunshine Law violations in contravention of Article I, § 24(b) of the Florida Constitution, and § 286.011, Florida Statutes, which is referred to as Florida's Government-in-the-Sunshine Law (the "Sunshine Law").

### **B.** Factual Background

# 1. Public Negotiations with Reds

In 2006, the County and City jointly conducted negotiations for an agreement with the Cincinnati Reds (the "Reds") to lease Ed Smith Stadium ("the stadium")—owned by the City at the time—in Sarasota. The meetings of the joint City and County negotiation team for the Reds were noticed to the public and minutes were kept. (Ex. 4; Ex. 6 at 165-166) Draft copies of a memorandum of understanding negotiated with the Reds were also

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>An Interlocal Agreement ("Interlocal") transferred ownership of the stadium from the City and provided indemnity to the County and Orioles for remediation of environmental contamination at the site. (Ex. 3)

presented at those open meetings. (Ex. 4; Ex. 7 at 372) Members of the public were allowed to attend these meetings. (Ex. 7 at 373-374)

At a public referendum in November 2007, City voters rejected the use of ad valorem taxes to renovate the stadium. (Ex. 8 at 656) According to County Administrator James Ley ("County Administrator" or "Ley"), after negotiations with the Reds ended, "both the city and the county commission ... decided to just let their administrators try to work out a deal" with the Boston Red Sox (the "Red Sox") to keep spring training in Sarasota, so they delegated the responsibility to their respective staffs. (Ex. 9 at 689)

## 2. Private Negotiations with Red Sox

What followed was starkly less transparent. For example, although the City and County designated a commissioner to act as the point person in the discussions with the Red Sox just as had occurred with the Reds, (Ex. 7 at 376), the meetings of the negotiating team were not noticed to the public and minutes were not kept. (Ex. 9 at 692)

In May 2008, Barbetta, designated as the Board's representative in the Red Sox discussions, unabashedly stated at a public meeting that publicizing notice of meetings would "hamper" the progress of those discussions. (Ex. 7 at 376-378) He referenced a newspaper article that had done some "damage" to ongoing negotiations. (*Id.*) Baseball teams do not want it known they are

negotiating with a specific city because it might harm their negotiating position with other municipalities. (*Id.* at 379; 381) Until a team is ready to say "yes" to a deal, they demand confidentiality. (*Id.* at 425-427)

In July 2008, the County quietly sought to purchase parcels of property to use as a potential new stadium site ("the Payne Park parcels"). (Ex. 9 at 696) John Dowd ("Dowd")— Barbetta's close friend, campaign treasurer, and accountant—was used as an intermediary to purchase the property. (Ex. 7 at 381-382; Ex. 9 at 696) On July 26, 2008—the same day Dowd offered to purchase the Payne Park parcels—Ley e-mailed Deputy County Administrator David Bullock ("Bullock"), stating:

Talked to John H several times, John Ask. Dowd (guarantee me I get paid back), Nora (I am risk averse but I won't hold it against you) Shannon (Dowd called me and asked me if I would vot[e] - and I said yes). FUN

 $(Ex. 10)^2$ 

Ley acknowledged this e-mail reflected feedback received from two commissioners (Patterson and Staub) on how they would vote *prior to* Dowd exercising the option to purchase the Payne Park parcels. (Ex. 9 at 700-702) Dowd was concerned about a guarantee of repayment from the County. (*Id.* at 698) Although these detailed negotiations had already transpired behind

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>"John H" was a reference to John Herrli, the County's property acquisition manager. John Ask was the real estate broker for the Payne Park transaction. (Ex. 9 at 697-698)

the scenes, the first time the Board considered the purchase in a public meeting was one month later when Ley recommended and the Board approved the assignment of the Dowd option and purchased the property for nearly \$5 million. (*Id.* at 703-704; Ex. 11)

In October 2008, as the Red Sox deal was near collapse, Dowd e-mailed Barbetta, raising suspicions about the negotiations. (Ex. 7 at 385-386) Dowd stated he had met individually with other commissioners and that there was "no chance" Patterson and another commissioner would vote in favor of a Red Sox deal. (Ex. 7 at 386-387; Ex. 12) Dowd expressed fear that the administration was "clearing" the deal through Patterson and that it would be over before others had the opportunity to get to her. (*Id.*)

Using his private e-mail account, Barbetta authored "talking points" he knew would be shared with other commissioners. (Ex. 7 at 390-392) Barbetta asked Dowd to remove his name as the author, stating. "[p]lease do not recirculate with my name or e-mail on it. Just cut and paste." (Ex. 12)

Meanwhile, Patterson was asked in a one-on-one meeting<sup>3</sup> whether she would support allocating an entire penny of TDT revenue to fund a new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In a one-on-one meeting, an individual commissioner meets with staff to discuss "complex" issues commissioners have questions about in advance of a public meeting. (Ex. 8 at 539-540) One of the purposes of such meetings is to shorten the public meeting. (*Id.* at 541)

stadium. (Ex. 8 at 546-547)<sup>4</sup> At a later public meeting, Barbetta claimed Patterson had placed "handcuffs" on the negotiators, stating:

It's very upsetting that the public doesn't really know what happened and why we didn't get the Red Sox. We didn't get the Red Sox primarily because we didn't allow the full penny to go towards the stadium. End of story.

(Ex. 13 at 10-11) Patterson disputed that account, stating she had been asked if she was willing to subsidize Red Sox operating expenses. (*Id.* at 11-12). No vote was ever taken on any specific deal with the Red Sox. Instead, the team renewed its contract with another municipality shortly after Patterson's one-on-one meeting. (Ex. 7 at 395; Ex. 8 at 547)

### 3. Negotiations with the Orioles

# a. Delegation to Negotiating Team

After two strikes at bringing baseball to Sarasota, the Board directed staff on November 4, 2008, to begin a third round of negotiations—this time with the Orioles. (Ex. 14) Ley designated Bullock to lead the negotiations. (Ex. 5 at 37) Over the next seven months, Bullock, Staub, Chief Financial Officer Jeffrey Seward ("Seward"), County Attorney Stephen DeMarsh ("DeMarsh"), Strategic Planning Coordinator Jenny Yarabek ("Yarabek"), consultants Dan Barrett ("Barrett") and Paul Jacobs ("Jacobs"), and others

- 6 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Patterson described this meeting as expressing her views "behind the scenes to the negotiators we were paying as well as to Dave Bullock." (Ex. 27 at 2)

(collectively, the "Negotiating Team")<sup>5</sup> negotiated with the Orioles, the City, and representatives from the Sarasota Chamber of Commerce (the "Chamber"), about the terms of a deal with Orioles. (Ex. 6 at 167-170)

## **b.** Economic Development Agency

Bullock's staff responsibilities included economic development activities on behalf of the County. (Ex. 5 at 46) The County has a formal economic activity group that Bullock was a member of. (Ex. 17 at 55) Although the practice is informal, from time-to-time, County Administrator Ley designates Bullock as a member of the economic development agency for the county and it was expected that Bullock would act in that role during the Orioles' negotiations. (*Id.* at 55-56) During the course of the Negotiation Team's meetings with the Orioles, the provisions of § 288.075, Florida Statutes,<sup>6</sup> were invoked to prevent the release of details about the negotiations. (Ex. 6 at 161) The public records request came from two media

<sup>5</sup>Many of these individuals comprised the core of the County's negotiation team during the Red Sox negotiations.

[u]pon written request from a private corporation, partnership, or person, information held by an economic development agency concerning plans, intentions, or interests of such private corporation, partnership, or person to locate, relocate, or expand any of its business activities in this state is confidential and exempt from [the Public Records Act].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The text of the statutory exemption is set forth in § 288.075(2)(a), which provides that:

groups. (*Id.* at 155) The Orioles were "adamant" throughout the process that the public records exemption be honored. (*Id.* at 231)

Throughout the negotiations with the Orioles, Bullock "was acting in the economic development interest of the County." (Ex. 6 at 163-164). When Bullock conducted negotiations with the Orioles, members of the Negotiating Team were present. (*Id.* at 163-164) No minutes were taken and no notice was provided to the public of these meetings. (*Id.* at 164-165)

Bullock acknowledged that the exemption applied only to documents, not meetings. (*Id.* at 157-158) Bullock also acknowledged he exercised decision-making authority regarding the terms of the MOU. (*Id.* at 167) He received advice from members of the Negotiating Team on the terms of the MOU. (*Id.*) The winnowing process of what to include in the MOU that ultimately went to the Board for a vote was made by the Negotiation Team. (Ex. 18 at 16; 148)

In late 2008, the Negotiating Team held numerous meetings with the Orioles. (Ex. 19) None of these meetings were noticed to the public. (Ex. 6 at 267-286) The meetings included members of the Negotiating Team, Orioles' representatives, City and County financial advisors, Chamber representatives, and others. (Ex. 6 at 267-268; 287) Although staff had been

delegated responsibility to conduct negotiations, Staub sat in on several of the initial meetings. (Ex. 6 at 187; Ex. 7 at 316; Ex. 8 at 495)

As the City had done before with the Reds and Red Sox, it also participated in the activities of the Negotiating Team. Deputy City Manager Pete Schneider attended meetings, as did other City staff such as Pat Calhoon and Finance Director Chris Lyons. City Commissioner Lou Ann Palmer also attended meetings. (Ex. 6 at 274-275)<sup>7</sup> The City also considered its participation as furthering economic development. (Ex. 5 at 101)

Yarabek took extensive personal notes during these meetings. (Ex. 6 at 267) Her notes indicate that a host of substantive issues were being negotiated with the Orioles in these early meetings. (*Id.* at 268-269, 282) Yarabek's notes demonstrated that negotiations included evaluation of the economic impact the Orioles might bring to Sarasota. (Ex. 6 at 270-272)

Representatives from the Chamber also considered a deal with the Orioles as an economic development opportunity. (Ex. 8 at 597) The Chamber facilitated several of the meetings. For example, the initial all-day meeting with the Orioles on November 11, 2008, was held at the Chamber offices. (Ex. 7 at 316) Seward characterized the Chamber representatives as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>At one of the early meetings held at the Chamber, two City commissioners were present during a presentation by the Orioles. When one commissioner made remarks, the other left the room and vice-versa. (Ex. 7 at 320-322)

"liaisons" between the County and the Orioles. (Ex. 6 at 247) Cranor characterized his role as a "broker" in the negotiations. (Ex. 8 at 651-652)

During the November 12, 2008 meeting, representatives of the Orioles presented detailed financial information on a computer screen only. While the City requested a copy of the information displayed on the computer screen, the Orioles did not provide a copy. (Ex. 7 at 324-325)

These initial meetings did not result in an agreement as the Orioles rejected the County's offer in December 2008. Early in 2009, Chamber representatives approached Barbetta in an effort to renew negotiations. (Ex. 7 at 427-429) By that time, Barbetta had been designated by the Board as the point-person to continue discussions with the Orioles. (*Id.* at 433)

## c. Renewed Negotiations

On April 3, 2009, a meeting was planned at the Chamber. (Ex. 7 at 332, 446; Ex. 8 at 509, 633) Initially, a commissioner from the City (Kirschner) and County (Barbetta) were to attend. (Ex. 7 at 332) However, after concerns were raised about the public nature of the meeting, it was cancelled. (Ex. 7 at 333-334) Cranor then sent an e-mail to Bullock stating that a private meeting "in a dark back room" would go forward with certain key members of the Negotiating Team. (Ex. 20; Ex. 6 at 185; Ex. 8 at 636)

Subsequently, on April 3, 2009, as the public arrived at the door for what had been noticed as a public meeting, they were told that the meeting had been cancelled. Staub stated "I think Friday's meeting was cancelled because it appeared to [be] turning in to a crowded public meeting." (Ex. 21) Instead of the open, public meeting that had been planned, several key members of the Negotiating Team met privately and discussed the status of the negotiations with the Orioles. (Ex. 7 at 334-335) Notes from that meeting indicated that the Orioles did not want to put anything in writing because it would "hurt their Lee County deal." (Ex. 6 at 246-247)

The next day, Cranor sent an e-mail to Barbetta requesting a meeting to update him on the dark back room meeting. (Ex. 22) The following day, Cranor and another Chamber representative met with Barbetta. (Ex. 8 at 639-641) The meeting was to discuss the Orioles and inform Barbetta of the events that occurred at the April 3<sup>rd</sup> private meeting. (*Id.* at 642)

Following that meeting, Cranor called Bullock to "brief" him on the meeting with Barbetta. (Ex. 23) On April 11, 2009, Cranor sent an e-mail to Barbetta, Staub, Bullock, and others urging quick action as the Orioles had all but signed a deal with Lee County. (Ex. 24) On April 19, 2009, Cranor told the Orioles that conversations had been renewed with both the City and County and that "there is a deal to be had – from both sides." (Ex. 25)

In mid-May 2009, negotiations were bearing fruit. Bullock informed Barrett that his services might be needed again as the parties were close to a term sheet. (Ex. 26) Barrett was reengaged on June 1, 2009, (Ex. 6 at 188) as the parties had outlined very specific terms of the proposed deal. (Ex. 28)

In late June 2009, City Commissioner Kirschner sent an e-mail expressing his frustration about the secrecy surrounding negotiations with the Orioles. (Ex. 5 at 113-114)

### d. E-mail Discussions

Almost immediately following the delegation to staff of responsibility for negotiating a deal with the Orioles, Patterson, Staub and Barbetta began a series of discussions via e-mail about numerous aspects of any potential deal, including, but not limited to, TDT, bonding, stadium costs, advertising, economic impact, stadium construction, and the location of a baseball youth academy. For example, on November 17, 2008, Barbetta unilaterally sent an e-mail to each of his fellow commissioners on the subject of economic impact and value of the Orioles' advertising network. The e-mail from Barbetta produced several replies, including a reply from Staub, Kirschner and Seward. Barbetta continued to reply to each response, including Staub, pointing out that the Board did not agree to use economic figures provided by the Florida Sports Foundation, but had an independent study conducted.

Eventually, Staub replied "[i]sn't it great that there is such public record discussion with the Orioles?" (Ex. 30)

Another example of e-mail discussions can be found in the e-mail response from Patterson to a constituent on November 29, 2008. In an eight-paragraph response, Patterson engaged in a lengthy policy discourse, concluding with the requirements of what it would take to garner her vote in support of a deal. (Ex. 31 at 3-4)

Barbetta replied directly to Patterson and copied other commissioners, and engaged in substantive discussions about rent, capital contributions from the Orioles and other issues. (Ex. 31 at 2)

Barbetta's reply did not go unanswered; 22 minutes later Patterson provided a substantive response. (*Id.* at 1-2) This discussion prompted Staub to seek specific information from staff on financial information that had been provided by an Orioles representative. (*Id.* at 1)

The next day, the same e-mail chain continued with Staub sending an e-mail directly to Barbetta asking him to be "patient" and telling him that "negotiations are in play." (Ex. 32) Barbetta responded by again raising the question of rent to be paid by the Orioles and that this was a "key" element of the negotiations that had occurred over the past several weeks. (*Id.*)

Another representative e-mail discussion occurred in early April 2009, during the time period when negotiations with the Orioles ran into difficulties and Cranor was acting as an intermediary. Staub attempted to rescue the situation by intervening and making direct contact with John Angelos, the Orioles' Executive Vice-President, on April 10, 2009. The next day, Staub sent key members of the Negotiating Team an e-mail, including Barbetta, in which she promised to provide an update the next day. (Ex. 33)

As promised, on April 12, 2009, Staub sent a lengthy e-mail outlining what she described as a new proposal she had discussed with Angelos and others, replete with detailed construction costs, comparison to other deals, TDT scenarios, and multiple reasons why "we" should want to make this happen. (Ex. 34) Staub sent the e-mail to each of the other commissioners.

A convoluted and lengthy e-mail discussion ensued with multiple threads to and from Staub, Patterson, Barbetta, Kirschner and others, discussing the pros and cons of Staub's e-mail and the Orioles negotiations. (Exs. 35 and 36) At one point during the discussion, Staub asked Barbetta, "Can we make this work?" (Ex. 36)

### e. One-on-one meetings

In mid-June 2009 as negotiations reached their apex, Bullock and DeMarsh held a series of one-on-one meetings with each individual county

commissioner. During the course of those meetings Bullock informed the Orioles attorney that he had encouraged the County Commissioners not to discuss the issue at the public meeting, stating:

Steve and I briefed 3 commissioners this afternoon. Have more to discuss tomorrow with one of them. Will also brief the remaining two in morning. I have encouraged them not to discuss in any detail at bcc mtg.

(Emphasis added). (Ex. 29)<sup>8</sup> Subsequent e-mails make plain that one-on-one meetings were continuing to take place in the lead-up to the July 22, 2009 County Commission meeting. Yarabek stated that it was the first time she had participated in such a meeting on a Sunday. (Ex. 6 at 294)

On July 18, 2009, Bullock sent an e-mail to Barrett entitled "Briefing my 2nd commish now" stating that his first meeting with the Board's chair went "Ok," but the commissioner would "vote against it anyway." (*Id.*)

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