SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1647

SARASOTA CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT, and CITIZENS FOR SUNSHINE, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF SARASOTA, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA, SHANNON STAUB, NORA PATTERSON, and JOE BARBETTA, On Appeal from the Twelfth Judicial Circuit Case No. 2009-CA-021849-NC Case No. 2010-CA-002766-NC Case No. 2010-CA-003194-NC

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES, SARASOTA COUNTY, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA, SHANNON STAUB, NORA PATTERSON AND JOE BARBETTA

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is an appeal of a trial court's order validating County and City bonds after a trial. The Appellants' only arguments relate to alleged violations of the Sunshine Law that occurred prior to the County's approval of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the Baltimore Orioles on July 22, 2009. The Appellants do not challenge the County's authority to issue the bonds, the purpose of the bonds, or allege any failure to comply with chapter 75 or with any other law apart from the Sunshine Law. They do not even allege that the trial court failed to base any of its findings on competent, substantial evidence, and instead attempt to reargue the facts of the case.

The Appellants' and the Foundation's lead argument is that Deputy County Administrator David Bullock and the various County staff, attorneys, and experts that he consulted in negotiating a contract with the Orioles for presentation to the Board constituted a County "board or commission" subject to the Sunshine Law simply because they were working on a matter that related to economic development. Section 288.075, Florida Statutes, provides an exemption from the public records disclosure requirements for certain proprietary information submitted to public agencies for economic development purposes. However, this statute neither exempts such agencies from any existing open meetings obligations that may exist under the Sunshine Law, nor imposes Sunshine Law obligations where those obligations do not already exist. As the trial court found, nothing about the topic of economic development or this statute converts a group of County staff members or others into a "board or commission" for purposes of the Sunshine Law. The Appellants have not shown that the trial court erred in coming to that determination.

Second, the Appellants and the Foundation argue that Mr. Bullock and the other staff and consultants he used constituted a "board or commission" of County government that was subject to the Sunshine Law because it performed a "delegated" Board function. The Appellants fail to show that there was a lack of competent substantial evidence supporting the trial court's findings that these

individuals did not comprise a board or commission, and that instead they were performing administrative functions. The negotiation effort was led by Mr. Bullock, who was performing the County Administrator's power and duty under section 125.74(1)(m), Florida Statutes, to "negotiate contracts...subject to approval of the board...." Mr. Bullock at many times throughout the months of negotiations met with or called and discussed the proposed deal with his staff members, outside consultants, the County Attorney, and City of Sarasota personnel, in various combinations as needed for their expertise or as needed to communicate with the Orioles. The trial court found that nothing about Mr. Bullock's use of these individuals for their expertise indicates the creation of a board or commission subject to the Sunshine Law. This group, loosely labeled as the Negotiating Team, took no votes, created no joint products, reports, or recommendations, and otherwise in no way acted like an assemblage of equals that could be characterized as would rise to even an ad hoc board or commission of County government. Under the Appellants' theory, a Sunshine Law board or commission is convened every time two local government staff members meet or even communicate with each other about any issue that may come before a county or city commission.

Third, the Appellants and the Foundation contend that emails related to spring training and copied between some members of the Board constituted violations of the Sunshine Law, even if they were addressed to constituents. The trial court did express concern about these emails, but, after reviewing them, found that they did not fatally infect the Board's final decision to approve the MOU with the Orioles because the emailed communications did not amount to the crystallization of any secret decisions. Thus, they constituted at most what Florida courts have referred to as technical violations that are cured by airing the decision at a properly noticed public meeting.

The Appellants also contend that a set of so-called one-on-one briefings between Mr. Bullock and individual Board members prior to the July 22nd meeting when the Board acted on the MOU also invalidated the agreement by violating the Sunshine Law. However, the trial court found no evidence that Mr. Bullock polled the Commissioners or communicated with any of them about what another Commissioner said. It also determined that this set of meetings did not rise to the level of a de facto meeting that was recognized in *Blackford v. School Board of Orange County*, 375 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1979). The Appellants have not shown that these findings were not based on competent substantial evidence.

Finally, the Appellants argue that the Board's airing of the MOU and the related items, in a four and a half hour public hearing on July 22, 2009, did not cure the Sunshine Law violations they allege that the County staff and the Board committed prior to that date. However, the Florida courts have repeatedly recognized that a full public airing of the item to be acted upon cures prior

violations of the Sunshine Law, except in those cases where the deliberative body has reached a full decision in secret and thereafter seeks only to perfunctorily crystallize that secret decision in public. In this case, the Appellants have shown absolutely no evidence that the Board reached any decision in secret. The trial court found that the subject of the Orioles negotiations was "fully vetted" in multiple public Board meetings between November 2008 and July 2009, and that the hearing on July 22 and the prior Board discussions of the same topics fully cured all of the Sunshine Law violations alleged by the Appellants. The Appellants have not shown that the trial court's determination that the deal with the Orioles was "fully vetted" in public meetings was unsupported by competent substantial evidence. Therefore, under the standard of review set forth by this Court in Strand v. Escambia County, 992 So. 2d 150, 154 (Fla. 2008), the trial court's decision in this case must stand.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a bond validation action, this Court reviews: "1) whether the public body has the authority to issue the bonds, 2) whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and 3) whether the bond issuance complies with the requirements of the law." *Turner v. City of Clearwater*, 789 So. 2d 273, 276 (Fla. 2001). "The final judgment of validation comes with the presumption of correctness." *Strand v. Escambia County*, 992 So. 2d 150, 154 (Fla. 2008). "This Court reviews the 'trial court's findings of fact for competent substantial evidence and its conclusions of law de novo.'" *Id.* (*quoting City of Gainesville v. State*, 992 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 2003)). "The Appellant has the burden of demonstrating that the record and evidence fail to support the lower court's decision." *Turner* at 276-77.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that the County's Staff Negotiators Did Not Constitute a Board or Commission Subject to the Sunshine Law.

The Appellants' Arguments I and II and the Foundation's Argument I are related and will be addressed together. They all contend that the trial court should have found that the County staff, consultants, attorneys, and others consulted by Deputy County Administrator David Bullock in negotiating the MOU with the Orioles constituted a "board or commission" of County government and therefore should have communicated with each other only in public meetings. The Appellants first base this conclusion on the contention that any work on economic development issues subjects County staff members to the Sunshine Law. Their second argument is that Mr. Bullock and those he consulted were acting in a delegation of the Board's role and therefore became a board or commission themselves. This response will address the trial court's actual findings and then address the Appellants' and the Foundation's arguments in turn.

A. The Trial Court's Findings.

In its Final Judgment, the trial court analyzed the role of the County Administrator in negotiating agreements for the Board's consideration. App. 1 at 2-3. The trial court cited to Section 2.6A of the Sarasota County Charter, Supp. 31 at 11, which prescribes the specific duties of the County Administrator, but also incorporates other "duties as set forth in the General Laws of the State of Florida." The trial court then noted that section 125.74(1)(m), Florida Statutes, provides that one of a county administrator's powers and duties is to: "negotiate leases, contracts, and other agreements...subject to approval of the board...." App. 1 at 4. Accordingly, the trial court found that not only was the negotiation within the role of the Deputy Administrator, but that he in no way exercised the decision-making authority of the Board. *Id.* at 4-5. Likewise, the trial court found that he and his "Negotiating Team" did not act like a board or commission either:

In this instance, the people and entities Bullock met with, albeit in frequent and unpublicized meetings, operated in the roles of advisor, consultant and facilitator, to assist him in the performance of his duty to negotiate with the Orioles. They did not deliberate with, or without him. Bullock retained the ultimate authority to negotiate the terms of the MOU that would be submitted to the [Board] for consideration. He had no authority, and did not seek, to bind the County contractually.

Id. at 4-5. Accordingly, the trial court concluded that Deputy County Administrator Bullock, and those who assisted him, did not form a board or commission subject to the Sunshine Law.

As for the economic development function, the trial court recognized that the Orioles had invoked the confidentiality provisions of section 288.075, Florida Statutes, as to certain information that the team had submitted. *Id.* at 3. However, it also found that the receipt of this information did "not convert [Mr. Bullock] into a one man collegial body." *Id.* Accordingly, the court determined that he and those he consulted were not subject to the Sunshine Law under section 286.011, Florida Statutes.

B. Applicability of the Sunshine Law to Staff and Consultants.

Section 286.011, Florida Statutes, requires that any meeting of any "board or commission" of county government be open to the public. The later constitutional form of the Sunshine Law, which is "virtually identical," *Zorc v. City of Vero Beach*, 722 So. 2d 891, 896 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), similarly applies this requirement to "any collegial public body." Art. I, § 24(b), Fla. Const. Thus, a threshold question is whether a particular group constitutes a board or commission as defined in the Sunshine Law. The Appellants and the Foundation argue that the County staff members and consultants involved in the negotiations with the Orioles became a board or commission so as to subject their communications to the open

meeting requirements. Although some staff committees have been determined by Florida courts to constitute "boards or commissions" that are themselves subject to the Sunshine Law, see Dascott v. Palm Beach County, 877 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (where administrator delegated decision-making authority to a staff committee, it became a "board or commission") and Evergreen Tree Treasurers of Charlotte County, Inc. v. Charlotte County BCC, 810 So. 2d 526, 531-532 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) (staff committee that was authorized to conducted hearings and approve or disapprove development proposals became subject to Sunshine Law), where the staff members at issue neither vote nor otherwise take any collective actions, aside from making their own individual comments, they are not functionally a board or commission. Cf. Jordan v. Jenne, 938 So. 2d 526, 530 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (distinguishing *Dascott* on the basis that a staff committee that provides recommendations but does not deliberate with the administrative decision maker is not a board or commission for purposes of the Sunshine Law); see McDougall v. Culver, 3 So. 3d 391, 392-393 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009)("meetings between an executive officer and his consultants, advisors, staff or personnel, which are held for the purpose of fact-finding to help him in the execution of his duties are not meetings as contemplated by the Sunshine Law"), citing Bennett v. Warden, 333 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); see also Knox v. District School Board of Brevard, 821 So. 2d 311, 315 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) ("A sunshine

violation does not occur when a governmental executive uses staff for a factfinding and advisory function in fulfilling his or her duties.")

In McDougall, a group of staff members reviewed information, provided recommendations, but submitted all information to the final decision maker who made the final decision alone. See McDougall at 394. This activity was deemed to be merely fact-finding and not subject to the Sunshine Law. Id. The Second District also came to a similar conclusion in Godheim v. City of Tampa, 426 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), concluding that no Sunshine Law violation occurred in negotiation meetings conducted by city staff members and competing vendors where no elected official took part in the meetings, although the mayor, a single executive official, exercised supervision over the negotiation team, with the ultimate decisions concerning the procedures to follow and the award of the contract were made by the city council in open meetings. See Godheim at 1088; see also Occidental Chem. Co. v. Mayo, 351 So. 2d 336, 342 (Fla. 1977), receded from on other grounds in Citizens of State of Florida v. Beard, 613 So. 2d 403 (1992). Thus, County staff members performing their respective job assignments on a project do not automatically become a "board or commission" unless they act as a unified body.

The Appellants cite this Court's decision in *Wood v. Marston*, 442 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 1983), and the case of *News-Press Publishing Co. v. Carlson*, 410 So. 2d

546 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). In Wood, university staff members were appointed to a search-and-screen committee that was formally delegated a decision-making role in the selection of a new dean. See Wood at 938-939. This Court concluded that this committee was subject to the Sunshine Law. Id. at 939. In Carlson, the chief executive and four vice presidents of a public hospital board were appointed to an ad hoc "internal budget committee," which was effectively given decision-making authority to prepare a proposed budget that ultimately was adopted by the hospital board with little or no public discussion. See Carlson at 547. The Second District concluded that this committee was subject to the Sunshine Law. Id. at 548-549. Specifically, the Second District found that the appointment of staff to the internal budget committee that was delegated authority normally held by the governing body caused those staff members to no longer function as staff but instead to stand in the shoes of the governing body. Id. at 547-548. Thus, when staff "put on their committee 'hat' and acted as a board governed by the [Sunshine Law] and discuss, deliberate, decide, and take action to formulate a proposed budget, or to adjust hospital budget charges during the fiscal year covered by that budget, these meetings constitute official acts which are an indispensable requisite to formal action," and are also governed by the Sunshine Law. Id. at 549. In both Carlson and *Wood*, the governing bodies bestowed upon specified groups of staff members

the roles of acting as part of a body of equals rather than as individual staff members or professionals.

C. The Economic Development Agency.

The Appellants' and the Foundations' lead argument is that the County staff and consultants working under Mr. Bullock in negotiating the deal with the Orioles were necessarily subject to the Sunshine Law because they were working on an issue relating to economic development. They base this argument on Section 288.075(2), Florida Statutes, which obligates local economic development personnel to keep certain proprietary information about prospective private businesses confidential, and exempts this information from disclosure under the Public Records Law (chapter 119, Florida Statutes). Under the Appellants' theory, any discussions of the Orioles or spring training between County staff members that did not take place in advertised public meetings would have been unlawful and would have voided the MOU and also the bonds at issue in this proceeding. The trial court rejected this argument by recognizing that Mr. Bullock's receipt of proprietary information from the Orioles did not "convert him into a one man collegial body." App. 1 at 3.

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